2002

Utah v. Jeffery Randall Smit aka Jeffery Randall Cates : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Jurisdiction of the Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake County, Utah, from which this appeal arises, is based on U.C.A. § 78-3-4(1) (1953 as amended). Jurisdiction to hear this appeal is conferred upon the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to U.C.A. § 78-2a-3(2)(e) and Rule 3(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the State of Utah fail to comply with its plea agreement with defendant Jeffrey Smit where the plea agreement read, “the State will recommend that any sentence imposed be suspended and that I be granted probation,” where Mr. Smit’s attorney represented to the court, without objection from the prosecutor, that the State was not seeking jail time, where the State, through the prosecutor and through State of Utah Adult Probation and Parole, thereafter recommended Mr. Smit serve three months in jail to “give him a wake up call,” and where the prosecutor, after an objection from Mr. Smit’s attorney, stated, “the State is prepared to withdraw its recommendation of—affirmative recommendation for jail?”

This issue was preserved for appeal in Mr. Smit’s Motion to Withdraw Plea and the hearing on that motion, R. at 82; R. at 320.

Standard of Review: Review of trial court’s legal determinations is for correctness, granting no deference to the trial court. Jones, Waldo, Holbrook & McDonough v. Dawson, 923 P.2d 1366 (Utah 1996). Whether a particular breach is

material is a conclusion of law to be reviewed independently. Saunders v. Sharp, 840 P.2d 796 (Utah App. 1992).

2. Does the phrase, “the State will recommend that any sentence imposed be suspended and that I be granted probation” allow the state to recommend jail time as a term of probation?

This issue was preserved for appeal in Mr. Smit’s Motion to Withdraw Plea and the hearing on that motion, R. at 82; R. at 320.

Standard of Review: Review of trial court’s legal determinations is for correctness, granting no deference to the trial court. Jones, Waldo, Holbrook & McDonough v. Dawson, 923 P.2d 1366 (Utah 1996).

3. Does noncompliance by the State of its plea agreement with Mr. Smit serve as “good cause” to allow Mr. Smit to withdraw his plea agreement?

This issue was preserved for appeal in Mr. Smit’s Motion to Withdraw Plea and the hearing on that motion, R. at 82; R. at 320.

Standard of review: An appellate court “will not interfere with a trial judge’s determination that a defendant has failed to show good cause unless it clearly appears that the trial judge abused his discretion.” State v. Mildenhall, 747 P.2d 422 (Utah 1987). An appellate court “will not disturb the trial court’s denial of a motion to withdraw a guilty plea unless it clearly appears that the trial court has exceeded its permitted range of discretion.

4. Did the trial court fail to strictly comply with Rule 11 of the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure when it failed to divulge the maximum sentence of jail time

defendant could serve as part of probation, where the court did divulge the maximum imprisonment term of the specific charge, being five years, but where the court knew the defendant qualified for probation and also had signed a plea agreement where the prosecution promised to recommend probation, and where the court acknowledged that the two types of imprisonment were distinct and separate?

This issue was not preserved for appeal at the trial court, but it is argued herein that the court committed plain error.

Standard of Review: Whether the trial court committed plain error by accepting a guilty plea without conducting an appropriate and required colloquy is a question of law that is reviewed for correctness. State v. Tarnawiecki, 2000 Utah Ct. App. 186, 5 P.3d 1222 (Utah App. 2000). “The ultimate question of whether the trial court strictly complied with constitutional and procedural requirements for entry of a guilty plea is a question of law that is reviewed for correctness.” State v. Ostler, 2000 Utah Ct. App. 028, 996 P.2d 1065 (Utah App. 2000).

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND RULES

Rule 11(e), Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure

The court may refuse to accept a plea of guilty, no contest or guilty and mentally ill, and may not accept the plea until the court has found: . . .

(e)(5) the defendant knows the minimum and maximum sentence, and if applicable, the minimum mandatory nature of the minimum sentence, that may be imposed for each offense to which a plea is entered, including the possibility of the imposition of consecutive sentences;

§77-18-1 (8)(a), Utah Code Annotated

While on probation, and as a condition of probation, the court may require that the defendant: (a) perform any or all of the following:

- (i) pay, in one or several sums , any fine imposed at the time of being placed on probation
- (ii) pay amounts required under Title 77, Chapter 32a, Defense Costs;
- (iii) provide for the support of others for whose support his is legally liable;
- (iv) participate in available treatment programs;
- (v) serve a period of time, not to exceed one year, in a county jail designated by the department, after considering any recommendation by the court as to which jail the court finds most appropriate;
- (vi) participate in compensatory service restitution programs, including the compensatory service program provided in Section 78-11-20.7;
- (viii) pay for the costs of investigation, probation, and treatment services;
- (ix) make restitution or reparation to the victim or victims with interest in accordance with Subsection 76-3-201(4); and
- (x) comply with other terms and conditions the court considers appropriate.

§76-3-203(2), Utah Code Annotated

A person who has been convicted of a felony may be sentenced to imprisonment for an indeterminate term as follows: . . .

- (c) In the case of a felony of the third degree, for a term not to exceed five years, but if the trier of fact finds beyond a reasonable doubt that a dangerous weapon was used in the commission or furtherance of the felony, the court shall sentence the person convicted for a term of not less than one year nor more than five years, and the court may sentence the person convicted for a term of not less than one year nor more than ten years.

§76-3-208, Utah Code Annotated

(1) persons sentenced to imprisonment shall be committed to the following custodial authorities:

- (a) felony commitments shall be to the Utah State Prison;

§77-13-6, Utah Code Annotated

(2) A plea of guilty or no contest may be withdrawn only upon good cause shown and with leave of the court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Course of Proceedings

Jeffrey Smit was charged by the State of Utah with two counts of criminal non-support, a third degree felony. R. at 5. Mr. Smit pled “not guilty.” R. at 46. The State and Mr. Smit entered into a plea agreement whereby Mr. Smit would change his plea of “not guilty” to “guilty” to one count of criminal non-support. R. at 55. The court accepted the plea. R. at 317. Mr. Smit was sentenced to, among other things, 90 days in jail as part of probation. R. at 318, p. 9, lines 16-17. Mr. Smit motioned to withdraw his plea based on the failure by the state to comply with the plea agreement. R. at 82; R. at 320. That motion was denied. R. at 122. This appeal then ensued. R. at 123.

Statement of Relevant Facts

Jeffrey Smit was charged by the State of Utah with two counts of criminal non-support, a third degree felony. R. at 5. Mr. Smit pled “not guilty.” R. at 46. After negotiations, the State and Mr. Smit entered into a plea agreement whereby Mr. Smit would change his plea of “not guilty” to “guilty” to one count of criminal non-support. Additionally the State would recommend that “any sentence imposed be suspended and that [Mr. Smit] be granted probation.” R. at 60. The court accepted the plea. R. at 317.

At the time the court accepted the plea, it advised Mr. Smit the maximum prison sentence was five years, but made no mention of the one-year maximum jail sentence if he received probation. R. at 317, p. 5, lines 15-17. Also at the plea agreement the court asked if anything had been promised in return for the guilty plea. R. at 317, p. 5, line 22 – p. 6, line 6. In response, Mr. Smit’s attorney, Mr. Heineman, explained “the State is

not seeking any jail time in sentencing in this matter,” without any objection from the prosecutor. R. at 317, p. 6, lines 15-17.

Two months later, at the sentencing hearing, State of Utah Adult Probation and Parole recommended Mr. Smit serve three months in jail. R. at 65, p. 11. Heineman objected to the recommendation as being in violation of the plea agreement, but again, the prosecutor said nothing. R. at 319, p. 6, line 24 – p. 7, line 4. Later in the sentencing hearing, after the prosecutor had put forward the evidence against Mr. Smit, she recommended Mr. Smit “do a minimum of at least three months, if not six months in jail. That will give him a chance to think about what has happened, to give him a wake up call that this is an important area that he needs to take care of.” R. at 319, p. 6 line 24 – p. 7, line 3. Again Heineman objected and the court took a break for the parties too review the audio tape of the Change-of-Plea hearing. R. at 319, p. 16, line 14 – p. 17, line 5.

During the break only Heineman reviewed the tape. R. at 318, p. 2, lines 19-24. When Heineman offered to play it, the prosecutor said, “Your Honor, the state is prepared to withdraw its recommendation of—affirmative recommendation for jail.” R. at 318, p. 3, lines 1-5. Mr. Smit was sentenced to, among other things, 90 days in jail as part of probation. R. at 318, p. 9, lines 16-17.

Mr. Smit motioned to withdraw his plea based on the failure by the state to comply with the plea agreement. R. at 82; R. at 320. That motion was denied for lack of good cause. R. at 122. This appeal then ensued. R. at 123.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The trial court wrongfully accepted Jeffrey Smit's guilty plea and wrongfully denied his motion to withdraw his plea for two reasons. First the State failed to comply with its promises contained in the plea agreement. Specifically, it recommended Mr. Smit serve time in jail despite a promise not to make such a recommendation. Second, the court failed to advise Mr. Smit of the maximum sentence of one year in jail if put on probation.

The State's promise not to recommend jail was clear both from the plea agreement itself, where it affirmed the State would recommend that any sentence imposed be suspended and that Mr. Smit be granted probation, and from the Change-of-Plea hearing, where Heineman explained, without objection from the prosecutor, that the State was not seeking jail time.

The State clearly violated the agreement when first, State of Utah Adult Probation and Parole recommended Mr. Smit serve three months in jail, and second, when the prosecutor recommended Mr. Smit serve at least three months, if not six months in jail, and she gave reasons why he should spend time in jail. Such a breach of the agreement could not simply be corrected by the prosecutor's later statement that the State was prepared to withdraw the jail recommendation. It was an abuse of the court's discretion not to allow Mr. Smit to withdraw his plea after such great breach of the agreement.

Finally, because it was possible that Mr. Smit be sentenced to jail as part of probation, the court erred in failing to advise him of the maximum sentence he could serve as part of that probation. Thus. Mr. Smit had good cause to withdraw his plea.

ARGUMENT

The trial court wrongfully accepted Jeffrey Smit's guilty plea and wrongfully denied his motion to withdraw his plea for two reasons. First, after the State entered into a plea agreement with Mr. Smit whereby the State would recommend a suspended sentence and probation, and after Mr. Smit's attorney explained to the court that the State was not seeking jail time for Mr. Smit, and the State did not object, the State vehemently recommended Mr. Smit serve at least three months in jail, even though the prosecutor later told the court she was prepared to withdraw the recommendation. Second, the trial court failed to explain to Mr. Smit that he could receive a maximum sentence of one year in jail as part of probation, in violation of Utah law and the United States Constitution.

1. THE STATE FAILED TO COMPLY WITH THE PLEA AGREEMENT

Before determining whether the State breached the agreement, the Court must first understand what the terms of the agreement are.

A. The state promised, at the least, not to recommend jail.

The State of Utah, represented by Janise Macanas, the prosecutor, entered into a plea agreement with Mr. Smit, dated March 12, 2002, whereby Mr. Smit would change his plea in this case from "not guilty" to "guilty." R. at 55.

The plea agreement (also called "statement in advance of plea") reads,

"I [Jeff Smit]¹ will plead guilty to the Count 1 of the Information and agree that victim restitution be entered in the total amount of my child support arrears for Count 1 and Count II for my children as of the date

¹ Although the plea agreement reads as though Mr. Smit wrote it, the agreement was in fact written by the prosecutor for the State of Utah and signed by her on behalf of the State. R. at 55.

sentence is imposed. In return, the *State will recommend that any sentence imposed be suspended and that I be granted probation*. Further, upon my successful completion of probation, the State will join in a motion to reduce the degree of my conviction to that of a class “A” misdemeanor.” (R. at 60; *emphasis added*).

At the Change-of-Plea Hearing, which occurred on the same day the plea agreement was signed, Mr. Smit’s attorney Robert Heineman explained what the State had promised. The discussion proceeded as follows:

“The Court: Ms. Macanas. What is anticipated?

Mr. Heineman: We have a disposition in this particular matter. What’s contemplated is that on a plea of guilty to Count 1, the State will dismiss Count 2. (R. at 317, p. 2, lines 8 – 12).

...

The Court: Has anyone threatened you to get you to enter this plea? Coerced you in some way?

Mr. Smit: No

The Court: Promised you something? In terms of your agreement with the State of Utah, other than dismissing Count 2 if you pled guilty to Count 1, is there anything further to the agreement?

Mr. Heineman: There are a couple of things, your Honor.

The Court: Yes.

Mr. Heineman: One is that Alex Beesley is willing to waive interest if there’s a lump sum payment of all arrearages within the year.

Additionally, the State has agreed that if he successfully completes probation, they would stipulate to a 402 reduction in Class A misdemeanor, and additionally, the *State is not seeking any jail time in sentencing in this matter*. (R. at 317, p. 5, line 25 – p. 6, line 17; *emphasis added*).

...

Ms. Macanas: Your Honor, just for clarification also.

The Court: Yes.

Ms. Macanas: Although Count 2 is being dismissed, the defendant has agreed to pay restitution on those as well.” (R. at 317, p. 7, lines 4 – 8).

Macanas made no further clarifications of Heineman’s explanation of the plea agreement.

At the sentencing hearing, both the prosecutor and State of Utah Adult Probation and Parole (hereinafter, “UAP&P”) recommended Mr. Smit serve three months in jail, UAP&P’s recommendation being couched in terms of a condition of probation. (R. at 319, p. 14, line 24 – p. 15, line 3; R. at 65, p. 11). After Mr. Smit complained about the State’s recommendation for jail time as being in violation of the plea agreement, the court stated,

“I think that the agreement was—and I’m looking at the statement in advance of plea, that any sentence imposed be suspended and that I be granted probation. That does not in fact, of course, being granted probation implies that there would be conditions of probation and one of the conditions that I thought appropriate was this jail time; but I think beyond that—so, I disagree with your interpretation that a recommendation to suspend the sentence would be a recommendation to suspend going to prison. And there is nothing said here in terms of any recommendations for the particular conditions of probation.” R. at 320, p. 8, lines 1-12.

The court further explained,

“As I say, the way I see it happening here and the facts as I see it and what I would find is that the initial bargain or at least the one expressed in the statement in advance of plea was that their recommendation should be—would be to suspend the jail sentence. That’s separate and apart from the conditions of probation, making recommendations for the conditions of probation. R. at 320, p. 10, line 25 – p. 11, line 6.

Moreover the court stated,

“that a recommendation to suspend the jail sentence, or to suspend the sentence can only be interpreted to mean to suspend the prison

sentence, not to send the defendant to prison. It does not deal with the conditions of probation. This jail sentence that I've imposed is a condition of probation." R. at 320, p. 12, lines 1 – 7.

In other words, a promise by the State to recommend a suspended sentence and probation does not prohibit the state from recommending jail as part of the probation. The court also makes a distinction between "prison" and "jail," and associates the promise to recommend a "suspended sentence" only with a promise to recommend suspending a prison sentence, not with a promise to recommend suspending a jail sentence.

The trial court did find, however, the State had promised to recommend Mr. Smit's probation not include jail, based on the uncontested comment of Heineman at the Change-of-Plea hearing, as quoted above. R. at 318, p. 3, lines 6-11. At the hearing on Mr. Smit's motion to withdraw the plea, the court explained,

"however—and I do recall this, apparently what happened was that at the time the plea was taken, the State had said some things in addition to what was said in the statement in advance of plea. And those comments—and maybe they were and maybe they weren't intended as such—but they did—it would indicate that they were not going to recommend, or they were going to recommend maybe affirmatively no jail time, which would include conditions of probation that would be jail time. R. at 320, p. 8, lines 13 – 20

continuing, the court stated,

"During the hearing, further things were said that changed that recommendation, that their recommendation really was going to be also that as one of the conditions of probation should not be jail." R. at 320, p. 11, lines 7-10.

The court also reasoned,

"however, in this case, representations were made at the time of taking the plea that added to this written agreement, and that was clarified; indeed, the State had—and Mr. Heineman pointed that out at the time, that

their recommendation really was or was that the bargain—the agreement was that their recommendation was going to be no jail sentence as one of the conditions of probation.” R. at 320, p. 12, lines 1 – 7.

The State having promised not to recommend jail, the question turns to whether the State fulfilled that promise.

B. The State did not fulfill its obligations to Mr. Smit

Both the prosecutor and UAP&P recommended Mr. Smit serve three months in jail. R. at 318, p. 14, line 24 – p. 15, line 3; R. at 65, p. 11. Although the prosecutor later said she was prepared to withdraw the recommendation, her actions and arguments to that point, and even her supposed withdrawal of the recommendation, constitute noncompliance with the agreement, both in terms of contract law and constitutional law.

1. The State of Utah “breached” the agreement.

As stated above, the trial court held although the plea agreement by itself did not prevent the State from recommending jail as part of Mr. Smit’s probation, the uncontested statement of Heineman at the Change-of-Plea hearing did, which means at the moment UAP&P sent its recommendation that Mr. Smit serve three months in jail, the State violated the agreement. R. at 65, p. 11. State of Utah Adult Probation and Parole is undoubtedly an agency of the State of Utah and was bound by the agreement. If it were not bound, it would have been excepted from the agreement, as the judge was excepted. R. at 60.

Also, at the moment the prosecutor recommended three to six months in jail, the State again violated the agreement. R. at 319, p. 14, lines 24-25. And when the prosecutor gave several reasons why Mr. Smit should go to jail, including, to “give him a

chance to think about what has happened,” and to “give him a wake up call” (R. at 319, p. 15, lines 1-2), the prosecutor breached the agreement so far it could not possibly be repaired (even if the State had a right to repair the breach). The prosecutor somewhat attempted to cure the breach by telling the court, “the State is prepared to withdraw its recommendation of—affirmative recommendation for jail,” (R. at 318, p. 3, lines 3-5) after Heineman objected. Yet the prosecutor’s statement itself, with the word, “prepared,” demonstrates a reluctance to withdraw the jail recommendation.

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