2002

Utah v. Jeffery Randall Smit aka Jeffery Randall Cates : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I. Defendant received the benefit of his plea agreement. Although the prosecutor initially recommended jail time, she promptly withdrew that recommendation when reminded of her agreement. The trial court later acknowledged that it sentenced defendant with the understanding that the State recommended that defendant not serve jail time. Adult Probation and Parole’s (AP&P) recommendation of jail time did not breach the plea agreement because AP&P was not a party to the plea agreement and was thus not bound by its terms.

POINT II. A defendant appealing from the denial of his motion to withdraw a guilty plea cannot appeal plain errors allegedly committed in the plea hearing, only those committed in the motion hearing. For an appellate court to directly review the plea hearing would violate the prohibition against direct review of guilty pleas. Cases to the contrary are wrongly decided, and the issue is pending before the Utah Supreme Court.

In the alternative, defendant's rule 11 claim is meritless. Rule 11 requires only that the court inform defendant of the minimum and maximum sentence it may impose. Criminal nonsupport carries a possible maximum prison term of zero to five years. The option to sentence defendant to one year in jail as part of his probation is neither the minimum nor the maximum, but is an intermediate sentence. Thus the court did not err in not telling defendant about the possibility of jail time as part of his probation.

ARGUMENT

I. THE PROSECUTOR DID NOT BREACH THE PLEA AGREEMENT BECAUSE SHE PROMPTLY WITHDREW THE INCORRECT RECOMMENDATION; MOREOVER, EVEN IF THE PROSECUTOR DID BREACH, THE PROPER REMEDY IS SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE, NOT WITHDRAWAL OF THE PLEA

Defendant asserts that the State breached the plea agreement and that he should therefore be permitted to withdraw his guilty plea. Aplt. Br. at 19. Specifically, he claims that the State agreed during plea negotiations not to recommend jail time and that the State breached that agreement when both the prosecutor and Adult Probation and Parole recommended that defendant serve time in jail as a condition of probation. Aplt. Br. at 8-19. The State concedes that the plea agreement required the prosecutor not to recommend jail time. Defendant's claim nevertheless fails because the prosecutor promptly corrected her initial recommendation, thereby curing any error.

A. By withdrawing her recommendation of jail time, the prosecutor complied with the plea agreement.

"It is well established that a prosecutor may not make promises which induce a guilty plea and then refuse to keep those promises." *State v. Copeland*, 765 P.2d 1266, 1275 (Utah

1988); *see also Santobello v. New York*, 404 U.S. 257, 262 (1971). A plea agreement binds the prosecutor and the defendant to its terms, much like a contract. *See State v. Patience*, 944 P.2d 381, 386 (Utah App. 1997) (noting that many courts treat plea agreements like contracts).

In the present case, defendant received what he bargained for: a recommendation from the prosecutor that he not serve any jail time. While the prosecutor initially recommended jail time, after the recess in which the parties had an opportunity to review the record, the prosecutor replaced that recommendation with one of no jail time (R. 319:14; 318:3). The prosecutor stated, “Your Honor, the State is prepared to withdraw its recommendation of—affirmative recommendation for jail” (R. 318:3). The court replied, “All right. Apparently the—the recommendation that was part of the agreement was that it was to impose no jail sentence” (R. 318:3). The prosecutor affirmed, “Correct” (R. 318:3). Later, at the motion to withdraw hearing, the court reaffirmed that it understood the State’s recommendation to be no jail time: “I imposed the sentence under the impression that the State’s recommendation was that I should not send Mr. Smit to jail—or to prison and I should not impose, as a condition of probation any jail sentence” (R. 320:12).

Defendant claims that the State’s withdrawal of its recommendation of jail was “insufficient to erase in the court’s consciousness the State’s real recommendation.” Aplt. Br. at 13. Defendant’s assertion is unsupported by the record. He assumes that the State’s initial erroneous recommendation tainted the court merely because the court eventually imposed a sentence including jail time. The court, however, expressly declared that it

sentenced defendant with the understanding that the State recommended against jail time (R. 320:12). In addition, as explained in the next section, AP&P's recommendation of jail time was properly before the court, and it appears that the court may have relied on that recommendation in making its decision. Finally, the statement in support of defendant's plea acknowledged and the court explained to defendant that the court was not bound by any sentencing recommendations (R. 60; 317:6). "A trial judge exercises broad discretion in the imposition of sentence." *State v. McKenna*, 728 P.2d 984, 986 (Utah 1986). Defendant's claim that the judge was "tainted" by the prosecutor's initial erroneous recommendation is thus purely speculative.

Defendant also asserts that the instant case is indistinguishable from *Santobello v. New York*, 404 U.S. 257 (1971). *Aplt. Br.* at 19-21. Rudolph Santobello pled guilty to two gambling related offenses. *Santobello*, 404 U.S. at 258. As part of the plea agreement, the prosecutor agreed not to make a sentencing recommendation. At the sentencing hearing, however, a new prosecutor who was unaware of the terms of the plea agreement appeared and recommended that the court impose the maximum sentence. *Id.* Defense counsel immediately objected and asked for an adjournment. *Id.* A dispute as to the terms of the plea agreement ensued. *Id.* at 259. The court ended the discussion by saying, "[Defense Counsel], I am not at all influenced by what the district Attorney says, so that there is no need to adjourn the sentence, and there is no need to have any testimony." *Id.* The court stated that, given Santobello's long criminal history, it intended to impose the maximum sentence irrespective of any recommendations *Id.* On appeal, the U.S. Supreme Court held

that the prosecutor had breached the plea agreement and remanded the case to state court for a determination of the appropriate remedy. *Id.* at 262.

In the instant case, as in *Santobello*, the prosecutor recommended, in contravention of the plea agreement, that defendant serve jail time (R. 319:14). Unlike *Santobello*, however, the court below ordered a recess to allow the parties to consult the record (R. 319:16-17). When the parties returned, the State withdrew its recommendation, and the court confirmed with the State that its actual recommendation was that defendant serve no jail time (R. 318:3). Thus, unlike *Santobello*, defendant received the benefit of his bargain because the State corrected itself (R. 318:3). Moreover, the court later acknowledged that it sentenced defendant with the understanding that the State recommended that he not serve jail time (R. 320:12).

B. Adult Probation and Parole was not a party to the plea agreement and thus was not bound by its terms.

Defendant claims that Adult Probation and Parole (AP&P) “is undoubtedly an agency of the State of Utah and was bound by the agreement” not to recommend jail time. Aplt. Br. at 12.

AP&P was not a party to the plea agreement. No one from AP&P was present during plea negotiations or at the change of plea hearing. AP&P did not sign or approve the plea agreement (R. 55-64). The only parties to the agreement were the prosecutor, defendant, and the court who accepted defendant’s plea (R. 61-64). AP&P is, in fact, a separate governmental entity under the Department of Corrections which is controlled by the governor, not the Attorney General, who prosecuted defendant, or the district attorneys, who

prosecute most criminals in Utah. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 64-13-2 (2000). AP&P is authorized by the legislature to make sentencing recommendations. *See* Utah Code Ann § 64-13-20(2) (2000) (“The [Department of Corrections] may provide recommendations concerning appropriate measures to be taken regarding offenders.”). That authority cannot be confined or revoked by a plea agreement to which AP&P was not a party.

Therefore, AP&P’s recommendation did not constitute a breach of the *prosecutor’s* agreement.

C. If the State breached the agreement, the proper remedy is a new sentencing hearing, not withdrawal of the plea.

Defendant claims that the State’s alleged breach of the plea agreement warrants withdrawal of his plea. Br. Aplt. at 7, 24. In the event that this Court determines that the State did breach its plea agreement, the appropriate remedy is resentencing, not withdrawal of the plea.

“[T]he remedy for a defendant where the State fails to fulfill its side of the bargain is frequently specific performance.” *State v. West*, 765 P.2d 891, 896 (Utah 1988); *see also*, *State v. Garfield*, 552 P.2d 129, 131 (Utah 1976) (holding that if prosecutor failed to recommend probation as agreed, defendant is entitled to resentencing with agreed recommendation from prosecutor). If the defendant is misled as to the terms of the agreement or their value, however, his plea was involuntary and the proper remedy is withdrawal of the plea. *See State v. Copeland*, 765 P.2d 1266, 1275-76 (Utah 1988) (allowing withdrawal where prosecution promised to recommend hospitalization, but court had no discretion to grant or deny hospitalization); *State v. Bero*, 645 P.2d 44, 46-47 (Utah

1982) (holding withdrawal appropriate where no meeting of the minds occurred between prosecutor and defendant as to terms of plea agreement); *State v. Norris*, 2002 UT App 305, ¶¶ 12-13, 57 P.3d 238 (allowing defendant to withdraw plea where court and prosecution incorrectly told defendant he could pursue a vindictive prosecution claim on appeal).

Defendant's claim that the State breached the agreement does not warrant withdrawal of the plea. Defendant does not claim that the alleged breach caused him to plead guilty involuntarily. He only claims that the breach deprived him of the benefit of his voluntary plea. Thus, if the State breached the agreement, the proper remedy is re-sentencing with a new judge, not withdrawal of defendant's guilty plea. *See Garfield*, 552 P.2d at 131.

II. DEFENDANT'S RULE 11 CLAIM FAILS BECAUSE HE ASSERTS PLAIN ERROR IN THE PLEA TAKING, NOT IN THE DISTRICT COURT'S DENIAL OF HIS MOTION TO WITHDRAW, WHICH IS THE ONLY ORDER FROM WHICH HE HAS A RIGHT TO APPEAL

Defendant's rule 11 claim should be dismissed because he asserts error in a hearing from which he has no right of appeal. When a defendant appeals from the denial of his motion to withdraw his guilty plea, the appellate court has jurisdiction to correct plain errors committed in the motion hearing, but not plain errors committed in the plea hearing, from which defendant has no right of appeal.

A. This Court may not review errors in the plea hearing for plain error.

Utah law does not permit a defendant to directly attack a guilty plea on appeal. For over a decade, Utah procedure has required a defendant to file a motion to withdraw as a predicate to direct appellate review of the validity of a guilty plea. *See State v. Reyes*, 2002 UT 13, ¶ 3, 40 P.3d 630; *State v. Gibbons*, 740 P.2d 1309, 1311-12 (Utah 1987); *Summers v.*

Cook, 759 P.2d 341, 343-45 (Utah App. 1988). This is so because the appellate court lacks jurisdiction to directly review the plea hearing, even for plain errors. *Reyes*, 2002 UT 13, ¶¶ 4, 5. Defendant must first file a timely motion to withdraw his plea. *Id.* at ¶ 4. He may then appeal the order denying that motion.

This arrangement is similar to the appeal of bindover. An appellate court may not entertain an appeal from a magistrate's bindover order. *State v. Humphrey*, 823 P.2d 464, 467 (Utah 1991). The defendant must first move to quash the bindover in the district court (which may in fact be presided over by the same "magistrate" who bound him over). Then appeal from the denial of his motion to quash. *Id.* at 468 n.9.

In *State v. Reyes*, Reyes sought to circumvent these requirements. After pleading guilty, he filed a rule 22(e) motion to correct an allegedly illegal sentence; the district court denied his motion and Reyes appealed. *Reyes*, 2002 UT 13, ¶ 1. On appeal, the supreme court noted, Reyes "has not addressed the court's denial of his motion . . ." *Id.* at ¶ 2. Rather, he claimed plain error in the taking of his plea. *Id.* ¶¶ 2, 3. In effect, he attempted to use his rule 22(e) motion as a Trojan horse to admit him to the appellate forum, where he sought direct plain error review of his plea hearing. His attempt failed, however, as the supreme court dismissed his appeal for lack of jurisdiction. *Id.* ¶ 5.

Defendant's approach here is not materially different. He does not assert plain error in the denial of his motion to withdraw, which is the only order from which he has a right of appeal, but seeks direct plain error review of the plea bearing. For this Court to directly review the plea hearing, even for plea error, would be to grant defendant precisely what

Reyes and the cases upon which it relies forbid: direct review of the plea hearing. Plain error review is available in plea withdrawal cases, but it is limited to review of plain errors committed in connection with a district court's denial of the motion to withdraw.

Accordingly, this Court should dismiss defendant's rule 11 claim for lack of jurisdiction.¹

B. Even if this Court concludes defendant's rule 11 claims are properly before it, this Court should reject them because no error was committed.

Defendant claims that the trial court violated rule 11(e)(5), Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, attached as **Addendum A**, when it failed to "explain the maximum term of one year in jail if sentenced to probation." *Aplt. Br.* at 23. This claim is without merit.

"The purpose of rule 11 is to ensure that a defendant knows of his or her rights and thereby understands the consequences of a decision to plead guilty." *State v. Mora*, 2003 UT App 117, ¶ 18, 69 P.3d 838 (quoting *State v. Martinez*, 2001 UT 12, ¶ 22, 26 P.3d 203). Rule 11(e)(5) requires the court to ensure that "the defendant knows the minimum and maximum sentence, and if applicable, the minimum mandatory nature of the minimum sentence, that may be imposed for each offense to which a plea is entered."

In the present case, defendant signed a statement in support of the plea that informed him that crime of criminal nonsupport carried a possible prison sentence of zero-to-five years

¹ The State recognizes that this Court has engaged in plain error review of plea hearings, but the practice is currently being challenged on certiorari review. *See, e.g. State v. Dean*, 2002 UT App 323, 57 P.3d 1106, *cert. granted* 64 P.3d 586 (Utah 2003).

Addenda

Addendum A

Rule 11. Pleas.

(a) Upon arraignment, except for an infraction, a defendant shall be represented by counsel, unless the defendant waives counsel in open court. The defendant shall not be required to plead until the defendant has had a reasonable time to confer with counsel.

(b) A defendant may plead not guilty, guilty, no contest, not guilty by reason of insanity, or guilty and mentally ill. A defendant may plead in the alternative not guilty or not guilty by reason of insanity. If a defendant refuses to plead or if a defendant corporation fails to appear, the court shall enter a plea of not guilty.

(c) A defendant may plead no contest only with the consent of the court.

(d) When a defendant enters a plea of not guilty, the case shall forthwith be set for trial. A defendant unable to make bail shall be given a preference for an early trial. In cases other than felonies the court shall advise the defendant, or counsel, of the requirements for making a written demand for a jury trial.

(e) The court may refuse to accept a plea of guilty, no contest or guilty and mentally ill, and may not accept the plea until the court has found:

(1) if the defendant is not represented by counsel, he or she has knowingly waived the right to counsel and does not desire counsel;

(2) the plea is voluntarily made;

(3) the defendant knows of the right to the presumption of innocence, the right against compulsory self-incrimination, the right to a speedy public trial before an impartial jury, the right to confront and cross-examine in open court the prosecution witnesses, the right to compel the attendance of defense witnesses, and that by entering the plea, these rights are waived;

(4)(A) the defendant understands the nature and elements of the offense to which the plea is entered, that upon trial the prosecution would have the burden of proving each of those elements beyond a reasonable doubt, and that the plea is an admission of all those elements;

(B) there is a factual basis for the plea. A factual basis is sufficient if it establishes that the charged crime was actually committed by the defendant or, if the defendant refuses or is otherwise unable to admit culpability, that the prosecution has sufficient evidence to establish a substantial risk of conviction;

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